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Housesteads is one of the most
important forts on Hadrian’s

% Wall. Extensive excavations were

carried out between 1874 and
1981 by Newcastle University.
Combining the results with
those of excavations done

.« between 1959 and 1961 by
-+ Durham University, we now
~« have a complete plan of the
- north-east part of the fort.

These excavations uncovered

' principally Buildings XIII, XIV
— and XV, plus stretches of ram-
 part between the north and east
. gates, along with a multitude of

features and stratigraphic evi-
dence, revealing not only the

Front cover: Building XIII under excavation in 1974, viewed from the east
Back cover: Reconstruction of the chalets of Building XIV (Phase 3), by
Philip Corfe for English Heritage
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Preface

The Tadmor of Britain (Stukeley 1776)

This famous oppidum (Gordon 1727)
Housesteads, the grandest station in the whole
line ... Here lies the ancient splendour in bold
characters (Hutton 1801)

A most wonderful station. It abounds with
remains (Lingard 1807)

The admiring comments of 18th- and early 19th-cen-
tury antiquarian visitors to Housesteads, listed above,
demonstrate that, only a short while after it had
become accessible to scholars following the departure
of the unruly Armstrong clan, the site had already
acquired the status of one of Britain’s pre-eminent
archaeological monuments.

It remains so today. Housesteads represents per-
haps the best-preserved, and certainly the most exten-
sively displayed and dramatically positioned, fort on
Hadrian’s Wall, which is itself the most celebrated,
evocative and best surviving of Rome’s linear frontier
barriers. As such the fort and the adjacent miles of
Wall curtain in the Central Sector have acquired a vir-
tually totemic status. For better or worse it is this site
and its associated section which visitors most readily
associate with Hadrian’s Wall. Perched on its Whin Sill
ridge, at the limit of a sparsely populated pastoral land-
scape and looking north over apparently uninhabited
waste, it defines what the general public expect a
Roman frontier to look like.

The monument’s significance is reflected in the his-
tory of its investigation, which is associated with many
of the most prominent scholars of Hadrian’s Wall,
beginning with John Hodgson in the 1820s. Hodgson’s
excavations at Housesteads initiated the archaeological
as opposed to antiquarian study of the Wall and
focussed in particular on the fort’s gateways in the
1830s. Subsequent campaigns of investigation and
clearance were directed by John Clayton, R C
Bosanquet and F G Simpson. Bosanquet’s work pro-
duced the first full plan of a fort on Hadrian’s Wall
(only the second in Britain as a whole, after Birrens).
Eric Birley’s investigation of the vicus in the 1930s, on
behalf of the Durham University Excavation
Committee, was the first to reveal an extensive area of
a civil settlement. Excavation of the commanding offi-
cer’s house and the hospital by John Wilkes and
Dorothy Charlesworth, in the late 1960s and 1970s,
completed the work of uncovering a full complement
of the central range buildings, which had begun with
Bosanquet in 1898 (the headquarters) and the
National Trust in the 1930s (the granaries).

This process, which had begun to assume the char-
acter of a rolling programme of investigation, contin-
ued in the north-east corner of the fort under direction
of Charles Daniels and John Gillam from 1974
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onwards. The work was undertaken as the training
excavation for the Department of Archaeology of
Newcastle University and involved the excavation of
another barrack block (XIII) and the two adjacent
stretches of the north and east defences. It was accom-
panied, in 1979 and 1981, by selective reinvestigation
of Buildings XIV and XV, to the south, which had been
extensively explored by Wilkes on behalf of the
Durham University Excavation Committee between
1959 and 1961. James Crow joined the directorial
team in 1978 and when the programme came to an
end in 1981 an entire quarter of the fort had been
intensively investigated. Examination of the barrack
block focussed in particular on the later Roman levels,
which were characterised by the use of free-standing
contubernia termed ‘chalets’ by the excavators.
Buildings XIII and XIV (previously investigated in
1959-60) provided the best-surviving examples of this
form of barrack, preserving evidence for numerous
modifications over time. Complex structural sequences
also survived in both stretches of the defences investi-
gated, involving the removal of the rampart bank to
make room for a series of workshops, followed later by
the progressive refortification of the rampart areas,
which entailed the reinstatement of the bank, the addi-
tion of interval towers and successive phases of ram-
part widening. Such an extensive and detailed exami-
nation of a frontier fort’s defences was virtually unpar-
alleled. There was also intriguing evidence for post-
Roman activity in several areas. The new techniques of
area investigation and enhanced standards of archaeo-
logical reporting which developed in the 1970s, partic-
ularly in the field of specialist analyses, meant that the
level of data recovered and requiring publication great-
ly exceeded that associated with previous excavation
reports for the site. It is this work that forms the core
of the research published here.

As supervisors and students, many who were to go
on to occupy academic and professional positions in
archaeology were introduced to the delights of a
Housesteads summer by these excavations. A photo-
graph of the 1980 season’s team, which included this
editor, is displayed in the site museum. All I can say in
our collective defence is that, had we realised how
prominently and for how long the photograph would
be displayed, I suspect we might have discarded our
warm but less than sartorial headgear.

Subsequently, the only major excavation at the fort
was that undertaken by Crow beside the north curtain
in 1984 (published in Archaeologia Aeliana in 1988).
Nevertheless, the 1980s did also see the completion of
a detailed field survey of the environs of the fort by the
RCHME and small-scale excavations by Crow, on
behalf of the National Trust, on the terraces north of
Housesteads farm and at the Knag Burn Gate. Interim



notes briefly summarising the 1974-81 excavation
results were published in Britannia and presented in
lectures and seminars, while Charles Daniels published
an interim study of the chalets of Building XIIT (1980)
which was very influential. More recently Crow
authored the English Heritage guidebook (1989) and a
general study of the site (1995), now in its second edi-
tion (2004a), which have presented in broad outline
some conclusions drawn from the excavations. Very
detailed assessments of the archaeological and all other
aspects of the site were also completed in this period
(Crow and Rushworth 1994; Peter McGowan
Associates er al 2002), which have contributed signifi-
cantly to the preparation of this report. However, in
part because of the long delay in the publication of the
1974-81 excavation programme, Housesteads has
been somewhat overshadowed in recent years by the
discoveries made at other sites, for example Birdoswald
and South Shields, which have appeared in print more
promptly.

It is this longstanding deficit which this report is
intended to rectify. In addition to publishing the
1974-81 excavations in the north-east corner, it also
contains the RCHME survey, Crow’s excavations in
the environs of the fort and David Smith’s 1954 inves-
tigation of the frontage of the principia, while the
results of Wilkes’ excavations of Buildings XIV and XV
are reviewed in the light of the 1974-81 findings at the
appropriate points in the structural description. It thus
represents the definitive statement regarding almost a

generation of archaeological research at a monument
of international status and establishes a base for future
study of the site. The report will add to the existing
corpus of work along Hadrian’s Wall and thereby
inform future investigation of the World Heritage Site.
The excellent preservation of the archaeological
remains and deposits is apparent in the site pho-
tographs published here and should put paid to any
lingering notion that early excavations had inflicted
overwhelming damage to the archaeological deposits in
the interior of the fort. This in turn highlights the
potential importance of the site in addressing a wide
range of outstanding questions concerning the north-
ern frontier, and it is hoped the appearance of this
work will help to reinstate Housesteads at the heart of
Wall studies.

Alan Rushworth

Dedication

These volumes are dedicated to the memory of Charles
Daniels and John Gillam, who together initiated the
excavation project that forms the core of the work, but
did not live to see the final appearance of the report. It
is hoped that it will represent a fitting tribute to the
outstanding contribution that both made to our under-
standing of the northern frontier and the inspirational
introduction to its intellectual problems which they
provided for many of the current generation of
researchers.
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Chapter 8 covering the 1954 excavation of the princip-
ia fagade. Those relating to the 1959—61 excavations
were taken by John Wilkes on behalf of the Durham
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University Excavation Committees (Figs 1.7, 3.20,
4.29, 7.15, 7.17). The views of remains exposed dur-
ing consolidation works were taken by the late Charles
Anderson in his capacity as site foreman for the
Ministry of Works (Figs 1.8, 9.4-5). The photographs
of earlier excavations held in the Hadrian’s Wall
Archive (Figs 1.5-6, 3.11, 9.3, 9.6, 11.18-19) are
reproduced with the permission of the Museum of
Antiquities, University of Newcastle upon Tyne. The
original photographs of the oblique aerial views of the
fort and wvicus reproduced in Chapter 10 are held in the
Cambridge University Collection of Air Photographs,
Unit for Landscape Modelling (Figs 10.20, 10.21). All
the original prints and slides selected for publication
were scanned by Claire MacRae and John Dore.



Summary

Between 1974 and 1981, an extensive area of
Housesteads fort was investigated through the
Newcastle University archaeological training excava-
tion, under the direction of Charles Daniels, John
Gillam and James Crow. In conjunction with the
Durham University excavations directed by John
Wilkes between 1959 and 1961, which uncovered
Buildings XIV and XV, the 1974-81 programme pro-
vided a complete plan of the north-east part of the fort.
The main areas examined comprised Building XIIT and
the stretches of rampart between the north and east
gates. Despite much earlier digging, good stratigraphic
sequences survived, while the large finds assemblages
recovered shed much light on the material culture of
the fort and the structural and chronological relation-
ships between various parts of the site. Furthermore,
limited reinvestigation of Building XIV and excavation
of the east end of XV allowed significant reinterpreta-
tion of certain aspects of Wilkes’s excavations results,
in particular the construction of the massive storehouse
occupying site XV, which was redated to around AD
300. Accordingly, the evidence from both excavation
campaigns is taken into account in Chapters 2-7 to
provide a full history of this part of the fort.

The evidence revealed spanned the full 300-year
period during which the fort formed an integral part of
a military frontier, for much if not all of that time the
base of the cohors I Tungrorum milliaria peditata, while
traces of pre- and post-Roman activity were also
uncovered. Traces of possible cord rig cultivation were
uncovered beneath Contubernia 1 and 8 in Building
XIII, taking the form of a series of parallel gullies cut
into the natural subsoil. The 2nd- and 3rd-century
barrack levels of Building XIII presented an uninter-
rupted sequence of relatively minor alterations to the
internal arrangements, these being especially well rep-
resented in the centurion’s quarters. This picture of
apparent continuity provides an interesting contrast to
the historical narrative of conflict and upheaval relating
to the 2nd and early 3rd centuries.

In the rampart areas an unexpected complexity of
structures and sequences was revealed, including
detailed evidence for a series of workshops dating to
the 3rd century. Analysis of associated metalworking
debris — the range and quantity of which is unparal-
leled from a Roman military site in Britain — suggested
that manufacture rather than simply repair of equip-
ment, was taking place there. This evidence raises
important questions regarding the extent and location
of metalworking activities in Roman forts, and the way
in which archaeologists have hitherto conceptualised
such activities.

The scale of the military renewal that occurred in
the later 3rd or early 4th century is very apparent. New
construction included interval towers, the remodelling
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of the barrack blocks as ranges of freestanding chalets
and the erection of a huge storehouse, Building XV,
which may have been intended to hold taxation in
kind. Comparison of the coinage from the fort and
vicus strongly indicates that the civil settlement had
already been abandoned prior to this rebuilding, prob-
ably during the 270s.

The later phases of Building XIII and XIV have
hitherto attracted the most attention as they represent
the archetypal examples of a particular class of later
Roman military accommodation now termed ‘chalets’,
which consist of ranges of free-standing dwellings sep-
arated by narrow alleys. Whereas Wilkes (1966) had
considered that the chalet was simply a different form
of contubernium and accordingly argued that the later
Roman fort still housed a substantial force of several
hundred men, Daniels (1980) suggested that each
individual chalet housed an individual hereditary sol-
dier with his family who guarded the frontier and
farmed the lands around the fort. Improvements in our
understanding of the later Roman army since the
appearance of Daniels’s preliminary discussion, mean
the soldier—farmer model is no longer tenable, while
the material evidence of the small finds provides no
support for the theory that women were present in the
chalets. Analysis of the spatial distribution of small
finds in XIIT — in particular artefacts that might be
indicative of female use — suggest that, on the evidence
of the small finds, ordinary soldiers do not seem to
have had female dependants living with them in the
contubernia or chalets. This pattern did not change
between the Principate and the later empire.

Military occupation continued right up to the end
of the Roman period. Numerous structural modifica-
tions attributable to the later Roman era were identi-
fied and considerable quantities of late 4th-century
material were recovered, much of which was unstrati-
fied. The evidence relating to this period from the
north rampart was particularly interesting, with the
rampart spreading to ever greater width as a result of
the slumping of deposits, and the interval tower appar-
ently rebuilt in timber following the collapse of the
north curtain. Traces of oval, sub-circular or D-shaped
structures were revealed at either end of Building XIIT
and on the adjacent road surfaces, providing valuable
evidence regarding the later Roman—early medieval
transition in the northern frontier zone. This later
activity may be related to the possible ecclesiastical
presence previously identified a little further west near
the north curtain.

Several additional pieces of fieldwork conducted at
Housesteads between 1954 and 1995 are also included
here in Chapter 10. A survey of the landscape around
the fort was undertaken by the RCHME in the 1980s,
revealing an extremely complex palimpsest, spanning



over two millennia of human occupation. The analysis
presented emphasises the extent of post-Roman activi-
ty at Housesteads, with multiple phases of cultivation
evident, which must be related to the succession of
farmsteads located inside and adjacent to the fort.
Three small excavations were conducted by James
Crow in the neighbourhood of the fort in the 1970s
and 1980s under National Trust auspices. These com-
prise a watching brief for the digging of a waterpipe
from the Roman well at the foot of Chapel Hill in
1976, the excavation of several trenches on the agri-
cultural terrace between the museum and the farm in
1987 and the reinvestigation of the Knag Burn Gate in
1988. The results of the terrace excavation, in particu-
lar, neatly complement the RCHME survey and show
what could be achieved by further targeted investiga-
tion of the surveyed palimpsest.

Excavation along the east front of the headquarters
building by D G Smith in 1954 pointed to the addition
of a platform supporting a portico along the building’s
facade. A survey of the various stretches of dressed
masonry, principally the fort gateways, was undertak-
en by Peter Hill in 1995, and provided significant
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information regarding the primary construction phase,
in particular, suggesting that building of the fort
defences was twice interrupted for periods of indeter-
minate length.

In Chapter 11, the results of the preceding chapters
are summarised to produce an overall discussion of the
development of the site during the Roman and later
periods. Certain themes highlighted by the 1974-81
excavations are explored further, including the func-
tion of the chalet ranges and the large storehouse,
Building XV, and the evidence for occupation in the
immediate post-Roman period. The current state of
knowledge regarding the various units known to have
been stationed at the fort is also analysed here, based
on detailed consideration of the epigraphic evidence
from the site. The history of settlement at Housesteads
is brought up to the present day, with particular atten-
tion being devoted to the evidence relating to the series
of farmhouses that were built on the site from the late
medieval or early modern era onwards.

A summary of the substantial material assemblages
contained in Volume 2, and their significance, is pro-
vided at the beginning of that volume.



Résumé

De 1974 a 1981, une zone étendue du fort de
Housesteads a été étudi¢e dans le cadre de fouilles de
formation en archéologie menées par P'université de
Newcastle sous la direction de Charles Daniels, John
Gillam et James Crow. En conjonction avec les fouilles
de Puniversité de Durham dirigées par John Wilkes et
exécutées de 1950 a 1961, qui ont mis au jour les bati-
ments XIV et XV, le programme de 1974-1981 a per-
mis d’établir un plan complet de la partie nord-est du
fort. Parmi les principales zones examinées figuraient
le batiment XIII et certaines parties du rempart
séparant les portes nord et est. Malgré des excavations
bien antérieures, de bonnes séquences stratigraphiques
subsistaient, et les assemblages importants d’objets
découverts ont fourni des informations abondantes sur
la culture matérielle du fort ainsi que sur les liens
structurels et chronologiques entre différentes parties
du site. En outre, le réexamen limité du batiment XIV
et les fouilles menées sur la partie est du batiment XV
ont abouti a une importante réinterprétation de cer-
tains aspects des résultats des fouilles de Wilkes, dont
une nouvelle datation de vers 300 apr. J.-C. de la
réserve massive qui occupait le site XV. Par con-
séquent, les traces découvertes dans le cadre des deux
campagnes de fouilles sont prises en considération
dans les chapitres 2 a 7 de maniére a fournir une his-
toire compléte de cette partie du fort.

Les vestiges mis au jour appartiennent a ’ensemble
de la période de 300 ans durant laquelle le fort a formé
partie intégrante d’une frontiére militaire et a servi de
base, sinon constamment du moins pendant une
bonne partie du temps, a la cohors I Tungrorum mil-
liaria peditara, mais on a également trouvé des indica-
tions d’une activité antérieure et postérieure a I’époque
romaine. Des traces de cultures en cord rig, qui se
présentent sous la forme de « caniveaux » paralleles
creusés dans le sous-sol naturel, ont été découvertes
sous les Contubernia 1 et 8 du batiment XIII. Les
niveaux des casernes datant des II¢ et III¢ siecle présen-
taient une série ininterrompue de modifications rela-
tivement mineures de ’agencement intérieur, partic-
uliérement bien représentées dans les quartiers des
centurions. Cette impression de continuité apparente
forme un contraste intéressant avec les récits his-
toriques de conflits et de bouleversements liés au II¢
siecle et au début du III-.

Dans les zones des remparts, des structures et
séquences d’une complexité inattendue ont été mises
au jour, y compris des indications précises de I’exis-
tence d’une série d’ateliers datant du III¢ siecle.
L’analyse des débris métalliques associés a ces struc-
tures — dont la diversité et la quantité sont sans paral-
leles parmi les sites militaires romains découverts en
Grande-Bretagne, indique qu’a cet endroit, se
déroulaient des activités de fabrication plutét que de

XV

simple réparation du matériel. Ces vestiges soulévent
des questions importantes concernant I’étendue et
I’implantation des activités de travail du métal dans les
fort romains et concernant les hypothéses jusqu’a
présent établies par les archéologues concernant ces
activités.

L’ampleur du renouveau militaire qui s’est produit
a la fin du III¢ siécle et au début du IV est trés appar-
ente. Parmi les nouvelles constructions, figuraient des
tours intermédiaires, le réaménagement des casernes
sous la forme de chalets séparés et la construction
d’une énorme réserve, le batiment XV, qui servait
peut-étre a stocker des impots en nature. La compara-
ison des pieces de monnaie découvertes au fort et au
vicus tend fortement a indiquer que ’agglomération
civile avait déja été abandonnée avant cette reconstruc-
tion, probablement durant les années du 270.

Ce sont les phases plus tardives des batiments XIII
et XIV qui ont attiré jusqu’a présent le plus d’attention
car elles représentent des exemples typiques d’une
forme tardive particuliére d’hébergement des soldats
romains aujourd’hui désignée [en anglais N.d. T.] par le
terme de «chalets», qui consiste en des rangées de loge-
ments distincts séparés par des allées étroites. Alors
que pour Wilkes (1966), le chalet ne représentait qu’un
type différent de contubernium et que, par conséquent,
a la fin de I’époque romaine, les forts continuaient
d’abriter des effectifs importants de plusieurs centaines
d’hommes, Daniels (1980) a suggéré que chaque chalet
abritait un seul soldat héréditaire accompagné de sa
famille, qui gardait la frontiére et cultivait les terres
voisines du fort. La meilleure compréhension de ce
qu’était Parmée romaine a la fin de ’empire acquise
depuis ’hypothése lancée par Daniels montre que le
modéle du soldat-agriculteur n’est plus défendable,
tandis que les preuves matérielles apportées par les
petits objets découverts ne confirment en rien la
présence de femmes dans les chalets. L’analyse de la
distribution spatiale des petits objets découverts dans le
batiment XIII, en particulier des artefacts susceptibles
d’avoir été utilisés par des femmes, indique que les sol-
dats ordinaires ne semblent pas avoir partagé leurs con-
tubernia ou chalets avec des femmes. Rien n’a changé a
cet égard entre le principat et la fin de I’empire.

L’occupation militaire a continué jusqu’a la fin de
I’époque romaine. De nombreuses modifications
structurelles attribuables a la période finale de cette
époque ont été identifiées, et des quantités importantes
de matériel de la fin du IVe si¢cle ont été retrouvées
dont une grande partie n’était pas stratifiée. Les don-
nées relatives a cette période provenant du rempart
nord se sont avérées particulierement intéressantes,
cette structure s’étalant sur une largeur toujours plus
grande sous l’effet de ’effondrement des dépdts, et la
tour d’intervalle ayant apparemment été reconstruite



en bois apres ’effondrement de la courtine nord. Des
traces de structures ovales, sous-circulaire ou en forme
de D ont été révélées a chaque bout du batiment XIII
et sur les surfaces de la route adjacente, ce qui fournit
des indications précieuses concernant la transition
entre la fin de I’époque romaine et le début du Moyen
Age dans la zone de frontiére septentrionale. Cette
activité plus tardive est peut-étre liée a la présence
ecclésiastique possible identifiée un peu plus a ’ouest
prés de la courtine nord.

Plusieurs autres campagnes menées a Housesteads
entre 1954 et 1995 figurent également dans le
chapitre 10. I’étude topographique du paysage voisin
du fort exécutée par la Royal Commission on the
Historical Monuments of England (RCHME) dans
les années 1980 fait apparaitre un palimpseste
extrémement complexe, englobant deux millénaire
d’occupation par I’homme. L’analyse présentée
souligne I’ampleur de P’activité qui s’est déroulée a
Housesteads aprés I’époque romaine et fait apparaitre
des phases diverses de culture, qui doivent étre liées a
la succession d’exploitations agricoles situées a ’in-
térieur et dans le voisinage du fort. Trois petites
fouilles ont été menées par James Crow aux abords du
fort dans les années 1970 et 1980 sous les auspices du
National Trust. Celles-ci comprennent la surveillance
de Pexcavation d’une conduite d’eau partant du puits
romain situé au pied de Chapel Hill, la fouille de
plusieurs tranchées situées sur la terrasse agricole qui
se trouve entre le musée et la ferme en 1987 et le réex-
amen de Knag Burn Gate en 1988. Les résultats des
fouilles de la terrasse, en particulier, concordent bien
avec I’é¢tude de la RCHME et montrent ce qui pour-
rait étre réalisé au moyen d’un examen ciblé du
palimpseste examiné.
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Les fouilles menées en 1954 le long du c6té est du
batiment du quartier général par D G Smith ont
indiqué qu’une plate-forme soutenant un portique
avait peut-étre été ajoutée le long de la fagade du bati-
ment. Une étude de diverses étendues de magonnerie
taillée, principalement les portes du fort, a été réalisée
par Peter Hill en 1995 et a fourni des informations
importantes concernant la phase de construction pri-
maire. Celles-ci suggérent en particulier que ’amé-
nagement des défenses du fort a été interrompu deux
fois pendant des périodes de durée indéterminée.

Dans le chapitre 11, les résultats des chapitres
précédents sont résumés de maniére a donner une vue
d’ensemble de ’aménagement du site durant la péri-
ode romaine et les périodes postérieures. Certains des
thémes mis en lumiére par les fouilles de 1974 a 1980
sont étudiés dans plus de détails, y compris la fonction
des chalets et de la grande réserve, le batiment XV, ainsi
que les vestiges confirmant Ioccupation qui a suivi
immédiatement la période romaine. L’état actuel des
connaissances concernant les diverses unités dont la
présence au fort est attestée fait également 1’objet
d’une analyse basée sur ’examen détaillé des données
épigraphique venant du site. L’histoire de ’occupation
de Housesteads est poursuivie jusqu’a la période
actuelle en consacrant une attention particuliere aux
vestiges liés a la série de fermes construites a cet
endroit a partir de la fin de la période médiévale ou du
début de la période moderne.

Un résumé des assemblages de matériel sub-
stantiels décrits dans le volume 2, et leur importance,
est fournie au début du volume en question.

Translated by Muriel de Grey in association with
First Edition Translations Ltd, Cambridge, UK



Zusammenfassung

Von 1974 bis 1981 wurde ein grofier Bereich des
Romerkastells Housesteads im Rahmen einer archéol-
ogischen Schulungsausgrabung der Newcastle
University unter Leitung von Charles Daniels, John
Gillam und James Crow untersucht. Zusammen mit
den Ergebnissen der Ausgrabungen der Durham
University von 1959 bis 1961 unter Leitung von John
Wilkes, bei denen die Gebdude XIV und XV freigelegt
wurden, konnte mit dem Programm von 1974-81 ein
vollstindiger Grundriss des norddstlichen Teils der
Festung erstellt werden. Die untersuchten
Hauptbereiche umfassten Gebdude XIII und die Teile
des Festungswalls zwischen den ndrdlichen und
ostlichen Toren. Trotz zahlreicher fritherer Grabungen
sind noch gute stratigraphische Sequenzen erhalten
geblieben. Die Assemblagen aus den grofien
Fundstellen gaben viel Aufschluss tiber die materielle
Kultur des Kastells und die strukturelle und chronolo-
gische Beziehung zwischen unterschiedlichen
Bereichen der Stitte. Dariiber hinaus ermdglichte eine
begrenzte Neuuntersuchung von Gebidude XIV und
die Ausgrabung der Ostseite von XV eine wichtige
Neuinterpretation bestimmter Aspekte von Wilkes
Ausgrabungsergebnissen wie die Neudatierung des
Baus des massiven Lagerhauses in das Jahr 300 n. Chr,
das auf Stiatte XV stand. Die Nachweise aus beiden
Ausgrabungen werden in Kapitel 2-7 berticksichtigt
und bieten einen vollstindigen geschichtlichen
Uberblick tiber diesen Teil des Kastells.

Die gefundenen Nachweise umfassten die
gesamten 300 Jahre, in denen die Festung ein
wesentlicher Bestandteil einer militdrischen Grenze
bzw. zeitweise, wenn nicht sogar Uber den gesamten
Zeitraum, der Stiitzpunkt der cohors I Tungrorum mil-
liaria peditata war. Hinweise auf Aktivititen vor und
nach der Romerzeit wurden ebenso freigelegt. Spuren,
die auf eine Cord Rig Kultivierung (im prahistorischen
Grofibritannien praktiziertes Anbausystem) hinweisen,
wurden unterhalb von contubernia 1 und 8 in Gebdude
XIII gefunden. Sie bilden die Form einer Reihe von
parallelen Rinnen, die in den natirlichen Untergrund
geschnitten wurden. Die Barackenetagen von Gebédude
XIII im 2. und 3. Jahrhundert zeigen eine ununter-
brochene Abfolge von relativ kleinen Verdnderungen
der Innenaufteilung. Diese zeigen sich besonders gut
in den Quartieren der Zenturionen. Dieses Bild von
offensichtlicher Kontinuitét steht in einem interessan-
ten Kontrast zu den erzdhlten Konflikten und
Umbriichen im 2. und 3. Jahrhundert.

Im Bereich des Festungswalls wurden unerwartet
komplexe Strukturen und Sequenzen freigelegt wie ein
detaillierter Nachweis fiir eine Reihe von Werkstitten,
die auf das 3. Jahrhundert datiert werden. Eine Analyse
von damit in Zusammenhang stehendem Metallschrott,
dessen Ausmafli und Menge fiir roémische
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Militdrstiitzpunkte in Grofibritannien einzigartig ist,
legt nahe, das hier produziert wurde und nicht nur ein-
fache Reparaturen an der Ausriistung vorgenommen
wurden. Diese Fundstiicke werfen wichtige Fragen im
Hinblick auf das Ausmafli von roémischer
Metallverarbeitung in Romerkastellen auf und wo
diese stattfand bzw. das Bild, das Archéologen von
diesen Aktivititen bisher hatten.

Das Ausmaf3 der militdrischen Erneuerung, die im
ausgehenden 3. oder frithen 4. Jahrhundert stattfand,
ist sehr augenfillig. Neubauten umfassten
Zwischentiirme, die Umwandlung der Barackenblocke
in freistehende Chalets und die Errichtung eines riesi-
gen Lagerhauses, Gebédude XV, in dem moglicherweise
bestimmte Steuereinnahmen gelagert wurden. Ein
Vergleich des Miinzgelds aus dem Romerlager und
dem wicus weist stark darauf hin, dass die zivile
Besiedlung bereits vor diesem Wiederaufbau, vermut-
lich in den 70er Jahren des 2. Jahrhunderts,
aufgegeben worden war.

Den spiteren Phasen von Gebdude XIII und XIV
kam bisher die grofite Aufmerksamkeit zu, weil sie den
Archetyp einer bestimmten Klasse von spéater romisch-
er militdrischer Behausung darstellen, die heute als
»Chalet® bezeichnet wird. Es handelt sich um Reihen
von freistehenden Hitten, die durch schmale Gassen
getrennt sind. Wihren Wilkes (1966) davon ausging,
dass das Chalet schlicht eine andere Form eines contu-
bernium darstellte und demzufolge argumentierte, dass
das spite Romerkastell noch ein bedeutendes Heer von
mehreren Hundertschaften beherbergte, meinte
Daniels (1980), dass jedes Chalet von einem individu-
ellen seBBhaften Soldaten mit seiner Familie bewohnt
wurde, der die Grenze bewachte und das Land rund
um das Kastell bestellte.

Neue Erkenntnisse tiber die spéte romische Armee
seit Daniels einleitender Diskussion fihren dazu, dass
das Bauernsoldatenmodell nicht ldnger haltbar ist.
Materialnachweise aus den kleinen Fundstellen liefern
keinen Hinweis fiir die Theorie, dass Frauen in den
Chalets lebten. Eine Analyse der raumlichen
Aufteilung der kleinen Fundstellen in XIIT — insbeson-
dere Artefakte, die auf weibliche Benutzer hinweisen,
legt nahe, dass gemeine Soldaten anscheinend keine
weiblichen Angehdrigen in den contubernia oder
Chalets hatten. Dieses Muster bleibt zwischen
Prinzipat und dem spéiteren Imperium unverdndert.

Die militdrische Besatzung dauerte bis zum Ende
der romischen Ara an. Zahlreiche strukturelle
Anderungen, die der spiten romischen Periode zuge-
ordnet werden, wurden identifiziert und grofle Mengen
Material aus dem spéten 4. Jahrhundert entdeckt. Ein
grofier Teil davon war nicht geschichtet. Die Nachweise
aus dem nordlichen Wall beziiglich dieses Zeitraums
waren besonders interessant. Der Wall breitete sich



durch das Absacken von Ablagerungen noch weiter aus
und der Zwischenturm wurde offensichtlich aus Holz
wieder aufgebaut, nachdem die Nordgrenze zusam-
mengebrochen war. Spuren von ovalen, halbrunden
oder D-formigen Strukturen wurden an jedem Ende
von Gebdude XIII und den angrenzenden
Stralenoberflichen gefunden, die wertvolle Nachweise
zum Ubergang vom romischen Reich ins
Friithmittelalter aus dem nérdlichen Grenzbereich
liefern. Diese spéitere Aktivitit konnte mit einem
moglichen Vorhandensein einer Kirche zusammenhén-
gen, die etwas weiter westlich nahe der Nordgrenze ent-
deckt wurde.

Weitere Teile von Feldarbeit, die von 1954 bis 1995
in Housesteads durchgefiihrt wurden, sind hier auch in
Kapitel 10 enthalten. Eine von der Royal Commission
on the Historical Monuments of England (RCHME)
in den 1980er Jahren durchgefiihrte Untersuchung der
Landschaft rund um das Kastell zeigte einen extrem
komplexen Palimpsest, der iiber zwei Jahrtausende
menschlicher Besiedlung umspannt. Die vorgelegte
Analyse unterstreicht das Ausmaf3 der Aktivititen in
Housesteads nach der Romerzeit mit einer Vielzahl
von Kultivierungsphasen, die mit den Gehoéften in
Zusammenhang stehen missen, die innerhalb und in
der Nidhe des Kastells standen. Unter
Schirmherrschaft des National Trust wurden drei
kleine Ausgrabungen in den 70er und 80er Jahren des
20. Jahrhunderts von James Crow in der
Nachbarschaft des Kastells durchgefiihrt. Diese bein-
halten eine Kurzbeobachtung fiir das Graben einer
Wasserleitung vom rémischen Brunnen am Fufl von
Chapel Hill im Jahr 1976, die Ausgrabung von
mehreren Griben der landwirtschaftlichen Terrasse
zwischen dem Museum und dem Bauernhof im Jahr
1987 und die Neuuntersuchung von Knag Burn Gate
im Jahr 1988. Insbesondere die Ausgrabungsergeb-
nisse an der Terrasse runden sehr schon die RCHME-
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Studie ab und zeigen, was durch weitere gezielte
Untersuchungen an dem schon analysierten
Palimpsest erreicht werden kdnnte.

Ausgrabungen entlang der Ostlichen Seite des
Hauptgebidudes von D.G. Smith im Jahr 1954 wiesen auf
eine zusétzliche Plattform hin, die einen Sdulengang ent-
lang der Gebdudefassade stiitzte. Eine Untersuchung der
verschiedenen Abschnitte von verputztem Mauerwerk,
insgesondere die Portale des Kastells, wurde 1995 von
Peter Hill durchgefiihrt und brachte wichtige
Informationen beziiglich der anfinglichen Bauphase.
Diese weisen insbesondere darauf hin, dass der Bau der
Befestigungsanlagen zweimal fiir jeweils einen Zeitraum
unbestimmter Linge unterbrochen worden war.

In Kapitel 11 werden die Ergebnisse der vorherge-
henden Kapitel fiir eine umfassende Diskussion der
Entwicklung der Stitte wihrend der romischen Ara
und spiteren Perioden zusammengefasst. Bestimmt
Themen, die durch die Ausgrabungen von 1974-81
unterstrichen wurden, werden weiter untersucht, wie
die Funktion der Chalet-Reihen und des grofien
Lagerhauses, Gebidude XV, und die Nachweise fiir eine
Besiedlung direkt im Anschluss an die Romerzeit. Der
aktuelle Wissensstand beziglich der verschiedenen
Einheiten, die hier stationiert waren, wird an dieser
Stelle ebenfalls auf Grundlage der epigraphischen
Nachweise aus der Stitte analysiert. Die Geschichte
der Besiedlung von Housesteads wird bis zum heutigen
Tage gezeigt. Besondere Beriicksichtigung finden hier
die Nachweise fur eine Reihe von Bauernhiusern, die
auf der Stitte seit dem spiten Mittelalter bzw. der
frithen Neuzeit gebaut wurden.

Am Anfang von Band 2 steht ecine
Zusammenfassung der umfangreichen Material-
assemblagen und ihrer Bedeutung.

Translated by Tamara Benscheidt in association
with First Edition Translations Ltd, Cambridge, UK



1 Introduction

This volume is principally concerned with the excava-
tions that were conducted in the north-east quarter of
Housesteads Roman fort between 1974 and 1981,
under the direction of C M Daniels, ] P Gillam and ]
G Crow. The excavations embraced three of the fort’s
main internal buildings (comprising two barrack
blocks, XIII and X1V, and a third structure, XV, which
served a more diverse range of functions) plus the adja-
cent stretches of the north and east ramparts, and rep-
resented the last in a series of important programmes
of investigation conducted in the interior of the fort
after 1945. The work also brings to publication a num-
ber of fieldwork projects conducted in the environs of
Housesteads during the 1970s and 1980s, the most
notable of these being the extensive earthwork survey
undertaken by the Royal Commission on Historical
Monuments of England (RCHME) in the mid-late
1980s and the excavations on the agricultural terraces
beside the farmhouse and in the Knag Burn Gate con-
ducted by ] G Crow in 1987 and 1988 respectively.
Although these projects were not conceived as part of
an integrated programme they undeniably comple-
ment one another and combine to provide a much

fuller understanding of the development of the site in
its immediate landscape setting, not merely during the
Roman period, but over a timespan extending from
late prehistory right up to the modern era.

The site (Fig1.1)

Housesteads Roman fort is one of the best-preserved sites
along Hadrian’s Wall (E B Birley 1961, 178-84; Daniels
1978, 138-55; Crow 1989, and 2004a; Peter McGowan
Associates et al 2002). In recognition of its signal impor-
tance it has been placed in the guardianship of English
Heritage and is incorporated within the Hadrian’s Wall
Military Zone World Heritage Monument, designated
by UNESCO in 1987. The excellent preservation of
the archaeological deposits over much of the fort has
made Housesteads potentially one of the most infor-
mative sites for the study of the Roman army and fron-
tier in the north of Britain (Crow and Rushworth
1994; Peter McGowan Associates er al 2002).

The fort stands on the Whin Sill escarpment in the
central and most scenic sector of the Wall. The Whin
Sill, an igneous intrusion of dense dolorite, provided

Fig 1.1 Location map of Housesteads.
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1: INTRODUCTION 3

impressive natural defences for the Roman frontier
works. More generally, the complex geological struc-
ture, which shaped the scarpland topography of the
surrounding landscape, has had a profound impact on
settlement and cultivation in the area around the fort.
This detailed relationship between geology and human
settlement at Housesteads is discussed in Chapter 10.

The 2-hectare (5-acre) fort was designed to hold a
milliary cohort of 800 men, conceivably the same cohors
I Tungrorum, which garrisoned the site in the 3rd and
4th centuries, and was still recorded there by the Nortia
Dignitatum ¢ AD 395. The presence of units of German
irregulars, the cunei Frisiorum and numerus Hnaudifridi,
is also attested by 3rd-century epigraphy. The Roman
name of the site, Tercovicium, is now thought to signify
‘place of the effective fighters’, a local British descrip-
tion of the first garrison (Rivet and Smith 1981, 493—-4).

A large civil settlement or wvicus extended around
the southern flanks of the hillside, enveloping the fort
from the east to west gates (Daniels 1978, 150—4;
Salway 1965, 84-91, Peter McGowan Associates ez al
2002, 181-8, 202-8 (A53-4, A71-4). Traces of field
systems, which range in date from the Roman period
(and perhaps earlier) to the 19th century, cover a wide
area around the site.

History of investigation

The history of archaeological investigation at
Housesteads is one of the most complex of any site on
Hadrian’s Wall with innumerable interventions, large
and small, not only within the fort but also in the sur-
rounding area (Fig 1.2). The summary provided below
focuses on previous work within the fort, with only the
most significant work in the vicus and immediate envi-
rons being noted. A more detailed review of interven-
tions outside the fort is contained in Chapter 10, where
it is integrated with a wider discussion of the vicus and
with reports on the most recent significant pro-
grammes of survey and excavation undertaken there —
by respectively the Royal Commission on Historic
Monuments and Buildings of England (RCHME) and
James Crow on behalf of the National Trust.

The antiquarian phase - ‘the Tadmor
of Britain’

The location of Housesteads at the heart of a notori-
ously violent and lawless Tudor frontier zone kept the
site largely hidden from antiquaries during the 16th and
17th centuries. Fear of the border thieves (‘praedones
limitaner’) dwelling thereabouts had prevented the anti-
quaries, William Camden and Robert Cotton from
examining the central sector of the Wall east of
Carvoran during their tour of the North in 1599, col-
lecting material for a new edition of Camden’s
Britannia, which appeared in 1600. As Hutton wryly
observed 200 years later ‘the country itself would fright-
en [Camden], without the [moss]troopers’ (1802, 229).

However, the much more intrepid Bainbrigg, a school
teacher at Appelby in Cumberland and one of Camden
and Cotton’s principal northern informants, probably
did manage to reach the site in 1601 (Haverfield 1911,
357-9). The short description he sent Camden is bare-
ly informative, but he copied one altar (RIB 1589),
which Cotton was subsequently able to acquire, pre-
sumably through the efforts of Bainbrigg.

Bainbrigg’s brief stay apart, the period of antiquari-
an study of Housesteads did not really commence until
the beginning of the 18th century, after the departure of
its 17th-century tenants, the Armstrongs (a notorious
clan of horse thieves), had made the site more accessi-
ble, and the publication of a new edition of Camden’s
Britannia by Gibson in 1695 had reawakened scholarly
interest in the Wall (E B Birley 1961, 9-12).

The first to examine the site was Christopher
Hunter in 1702, whose account is contained in a letter
printed in the Philosophical Transactions of the Royal
Society, and he was followed by a rapid succession of
antiquarian visitors in the next 30 years — Robert
Smith in 1708, Warburton in 1716, Alexander Gordon
and Sir John Clerk in 1724, Stukeley and Roger Gale
in 1725 and John Horsley before 1730. There is a con-
siderable emphasis on inscriptions, altars and sculp-
ture in all the earlier reports, but the remains at
Housesteads were too exceptional to be ignored, and
much useful information was preserved.

Together the antiquarian accounts yield a consider-
able amount of archaeological information as well as
illuminating the pattern of land-use and the destructive
processes at work on the site during the 18th and early
19th centuries.

The highlights of these years include the site’s first
cartographic depiction on Warburtons 1716 Map of
Northumberland where the fort was first identified as the
‘Borcovicus’, based on the entry in the Norutia
Dignitatum and the first illustration of the site, a rough
sketch by Stukeley in 1725 (not published until 1776),
which shows the farmhouse in the centre of the fort, over
the site of the hospital, and the curtain distinct on all
four sides. Alexander Gordon recorded the earliest
known excavation at Housesteads, noting that Sir John
Clerk ‘caused the place to be dug where we were then
sitting amidst the ruinous streets of this famous
oppidum’. Horsley published the first detailed map of
the Roman Wall in his Britannia Romana in 1732. The
inset plan of ‘Borcovicus’ shows the fort correctly posi-
tioned with regard to the Wall. The north gate is not
marked. In his description, he clearly distinguished
between the fort and the surrounding civil settlement,
was the first to mention the terraces, and made a
methodical study of the inscriptions and sculpture. In
general the antiquarian accounts give the impression that
the vicus was significantly better preserved in the 18th
century than it is today, with upstanding piles of ruins
and clearly discernible streets rather than simply low
foundations. However, such rhetorical flourishes should
be treated with a degree of caution, as Welfare notes in



Chapter 10. The extent of earlier cultivation and resul-
tant hillwash must already have obscured most traces of
Roman activity at the foot of the hillside. Nevertheless,
stone-robbing for field-walls or drainage works, follow-
ing the parliamentary enclosure at the end of the 18th
century, may have been responsible for removing further
remains and the overall tenor of the antiquaries’ com-
ments cannot therefore be entirely dismissed. There is,
for example, clear evidence, in the form of narrow wall-
chasing trenches visible on aerial photographs, that some
vicus buildings to the east of the fort were very systemat-
ically robbed out at some stage and this is just as likely to
have occurred after 1700 as before.

At any rate the admiration the ruins inspired in the
early antiquarians is undeniable. For Stukeley
Housesteads was ‘the Tadmor of Britain’, a grandiose
comparison with the newly discovered site of Palmyra
in the Syrian desert. The site continued to invoke this
response in the later 18th and early 19th centuries. In
1801, Hutton termed Housesteads ‘the grandest sta-
tion in the whole line’. The Revd John Skinner likewise
reckoned it the most interesting site in his journey
along the Wall, sentiments echoed by Lingard in 1807:
‘a most wonderful station. It abounds with remains’.
Clearly Housesteads had already established the status
it retains today as one of Britain’s pre-eminent archae-
ological monuments.

Previous excavation

The history of excavation at Housesteads begins in
June 1822 with Hodgson’s investigation of the
mithraeum, which had just been uncovered by Gibson’s
workmen. Since then the site has been the scene of
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Fig 1.3 John Hodgson’s plan of the east gate, 1833
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repeated campaigns of excavation, the 1974-81 pro-
gramme being only among the most recent and most
intensive phases of archaeological examination. Its
progress reflects the changing aims of the excavators
and the differing resources available to them.
Bosanquet’s careful survey (1904, 199-204) of
Hodgson’s and Clayton’s work in the 19th century is
invaluable in assessing the extent and chronology of
the earlier investigations. E B Birley (1961, 180-4)
supplements and continues the summary up to ¢ 1960.

The 19th century — Hodgson and Clayton (Fig 1.3)

In July 1822, following the discovery of the mithraeum,
Hodgson opened the first trenches in the fort, to inves-
tigate the west passageway of the south gate and the
north entrance to the principia (Hodgson 1822,
266-8). Returning in the 1830s, he sought to establish
the extent of the remains and to investigate the anato-
my of the fort. But, with limited time and resources,
his work was restricted to the east, west and south gates
(including the bastle), the interval tower in area 21, the
eastern end of Building XV, the eastern half of the
south granary including the corn-drying kiln, and a
hypocaust (probably the south-west one) in the praeto-
rium (Bosanquet 1904, 199-200; Hodgson 1840, 187,
also 1822, 266; Charlesworth 1975, 17).

With greater resources over a longer period of time,
John Clayton, during the middle decades of the 19th
century, was concerned to expose the curtain walls of
the fort, along with Hadrian’s Wall, to public view. On
MacLauchlan’s plan of the 1850s the only internal
structures visible are the granaries. Excavation of
the gates, much of the curtain, the east wing of the
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praetorium, and perhaps the outline of Building XV
definitely took place (Bosanquet 1904, 201-3, 209).
However, unlike Clayton’s excavations at Chesters, no
plan of the fort was made and it is difficult to assess the
statement that by 1866 much of the interior was
exposed (Budge 1907, 189). Certainly Bosanquet’s
workmen in 1898 encountered earlier digging and he
reports them as saying, ‘There’s nae dout auld
Anthony’s been here before us’ (1904, 231); a refer-
ence to Clayton’s foreman, Anthony Place. He specifi-
cally mentioned finding evidence of such trenching
along the north face of Building I, but much of this dis-
ruption may have resulted from the search for inscrip-
tions in the 18th century or ordinary stone robbing by
the tenant farmers, since the Gibsons’ constraints on
disturbance of the relics were limited to inscribed or
sculpted stones. Without more exact evidence for the
source of Budge’s statement, it cannot be taken literal-
ly, particularly since excavation in the north-east cor-
ner of the fort, between 1974 and 1981, found that
extensive areas were undisturbed, although they
demonstrated some earlier trenches and disturbance.
On balance, therefore, it seems preferable to accept
Bosanquet’s careful assessment of the scale of
Clayton’s work (1904, 201-3) rather than his subse-
quent comments (1904, 231) born of exasperation at
the activities of stone-robbers.

Bosanquet (1898) (Fig 1.4)

Excavations by R C Bosanquet in 1898 were promot-
ed by the Newcastle Society of Antiquaries to establish
the broad topography of the camp at a time when the
only other nearly complete fort plan was that of Birrens
in Dumfriesshire (Bosanquet 1904, 206). Apart from
the full excavation of the principia (which Bosanquet
termed the ‘praetorium’ and numbered Building X) the
remaining internal buildings were ‘traced’ which is to
say the walls were located by trenches and then fol-
lowed. This method is clearly shown in a number of
the photographs of the 1898 excavations and
Bosanquet was aware that this method allowed only a
limited understanding of the chronology of the build-
ings, but he did recognise a number of different phases
of construction in the barracks (1904, 233).

The 20th century

A few years later, further work was undertaken by F G
Simpson as part of repairs to the curtain wall. The
inner face of the curtain around the north-east angle
was trenched and both primary and secondary angle
towers revealed. The interior of the north-west angle
tower was excavated and the relationship of the Wall
and fort curtain at both angles investigated. Full exca-
vation of the south-eastern area (H23), including the
latrines, partly excavated in 1898, and the exterior face
of the curtain, was the most extensive work carried out
during Simpson’s programme (Simpson 1976, 133ff).

For the next 50 years the objective of research on
Hadrian’s Wall was to establish the chronology of the
different parts of the Wall system. This was achieved
by a series of small-scale excavations intended to test
certain hypotheses and resolve particular problems.
These were carried out with a notable singleminded-
ness so that only specific elements and features were
looked for and recorded. The only instance of this
technique at Housesteads was the excavation of Turret
36b in 1945 (Richmond and Simpson 1946;
Richmond 1950, 45).

There was, however, a flurry of activity in the 1930s.
Simpson excavated in the north gateway (1931, 218),
demonstrating that the east portal was never used. The
granaries were completely cleared by the National
Trust (Birley 1936, 16), regrettably with little record.
Trial holes were dug in the bastle showing all occupa-
tion levels had been destroyed by 19th-century excava-
tion, but stratigraphy outside the building showed it
was substantially later in date than the Roman settle-
ment. The longhouse was also trenched, inconclusively
(Birley and Charlton 1932, 234). The central section of
this building was subsequently removed to unblock the
via principalis for visitors, having erroneously been
assigned a 19th-century date (Birley 1937-8). Trenches
were cut in several places on the south, east and west
sides of the fort by Birley in 1931-2 (Birley ez al 1933,
83-5), to reveal that the fort was protected by primary
ditches only to the north of the east and west gates. The
south side was entirely unprotected. The drain through
the curtain at the south-east angle was also examined in
1932, and its course down the hillside preliminarily
traced (Birley ez al 1933, 92). In 1954, further work was
carried out in the principia by Smith, mainly on the east
face, where a secondary veranda covering the western
part of the wia principalis was revealed. The report
(Smith 1954) was completed, but not published. It is
therefore reproduced here in Chapter 8.

The first attempt to investigate the structural devel-
opment of the barracks was directed by Wilkes between
1959 and 1961 and was concentrated on Building XIV
and Building XV. This work established the form of the
primary Hadrianic barracks, something only hinted at
by Bosanquet, and described modifications to the bar-
racks and Building XV, which allowed a clearer under-
standing of Bosanquet’s plan. The result of this was a
general study of 4th-century evidence from the fort and
elsewhere along the Wall (Wilkes 1966).

Subsequent work in the later 1960s and early 1970s
turned to the full display of the central range of build-
ings, including the praetorium (Bosanquet’s Building
XII) and the hospital (IX). Both structures had suf-
fered extensively from earlier excavations and stone
robbing and a clear structural chronology could not be
recovered (Charlesworth 1975; 1976). Two trenches
had already been cut by Tait, in 1962, from the south
wall of the praerorium to the south curtain, to reveal the
stratified rampart sequence, and providing the first
published section from Housesteads (Tait 1963).
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1: INTRODUCTION 7

Stuart (Charlesworth 1971a) re-examined the north
terminal of the west ditch and its relationship to
Hadrian’s Wall (first investigated by Birley in 1932).
Similarly, in 1968, Smith opened a number of small
trenches in the area of the south-east angle and
latrines, to check points of detail (Smith 1968).

From 1974 to 1981, excavations continued in the
north-east corner, including extensive investigation of
Building XIII plus the associated ramparts and road-
ways (Rampart Areas H20 and H21) and more limited
work on Buildings XIV and XV. This resulted in the
full excavation of this part of the fort and revealed a
structural history more complex than the four periods
proposed by Wilkes in the 1960s, which had essential-
ly corresponded to Wall Periods I-IV. Only a prelimi-
nary analysis of the 4th-century buildings (Daniels
1980) and summary overviews (Crow 1989; 2004a)
have hitherto appeared.

Following completion of the 1974-81 programme,
further excavation took place just outside the fort, in
1984, when the north farm road and gate were
removed. This uncovered a complex structural
sequence in front of the north curtain (Crow 1988).

During this period several buildings in the central
range (latera praetorit) were planned in detail, at a scale
of 1:50. Plans of the principia and the granaries
(Buildings X and VIII on Bosanquet’s numbering
scheme) were produced by J Thorne on behalf of
English Heritage, and provided the basis of the inter-
pretive plans that have since appeared (Crow 1989, 17,
20; 2004a, 55 fig 29, 97 fig 52), while the hospital (IX)
was surveyed by students of Newcastle University,
under the direction of P Carmedy. The latter has never
been published and is included here as Fig 1.9.
Detailed recording of the surviving stonework of the
gates, towers and curtain, including the bastle beside

Table 1.1 Excavations, survey and discoveries in the fort

date nature of investigation
1822 S gate, W passageway and principia N entrance — Hodgson
1830-33 Main Hodgson programme of excavations comprising:
1830 S bastle & kiln; S granary kiln
1831 S gate; bath suite in Building XV
1833 E gate; interval tower to N (Rampart Sector 21); W gate; S hypocaust in praetorium
1850-58+ Clayton excavations — mainly fort gates & curtain comprising:
1850-1 W gate
1852 S gate, & E gate, exc, N gate begun & much of curtain faces cleared (esp external)
1854 Altar to Cocidius Silvanus (RIB 1578) found in SW corner
1855 Rampart Sector 25 (SW angle-W gate) cleared
pre-1857 N curtain inner face (Rampart Sector 27) cleared, N gate displayed
1858 E wing of praetorium cleared
pre-1867 Relief of Mars (CSIR 67) found at SW angle of Building XV = partial outline of XV traced? (see Bruce 1867,
186-7; Bosanquet 1904, 209: ‘some forty years ago’)
1898 Fort interior extensively trenched, overall plan established — Bosanquet
1909-12 NW, NE, SE angles, latrines, S curtain — Simpson comprising:
1909 NW angle: Wall-fort junction, angle tower interior
NE angle: Wall-fort junction, 2 angle towers, fort curtain inner face
1911-12  SE angle tower & latrines, S curtain outer face & S Rampart Sector 23 exc
1931-2 Ditches, post-Roman buildings & granaries exc — Birley comprising:
1931-2 Granaries cleared by National Trust
1931 Bastle investigated, no stratigraphy in the interior
1931 Longhouse trenched (central section later removed)
1931-2 Trenches on E, S & W sides of fort — showed ditches only present N of E and W gates
1932 Main sewer outlet at SE angle revealed, course down hillside traced
1945 Turret 36b excavated — Richmond & Simpson
1954 Work in principia, mainly E face (verandah) — Smith
1959-61 Barrack XIV and Building XV excavated — Wilkes
1962 2 trenches, from praetorium to S curtain, revealing rampart sequence — Tait
1968 SE angle/latrines, small trenches (eg angle tower W corner interior) — Smith
1967-9 Praetorium (XII) excavated — Wilkes & Charlesworth
1970 N terminal of W ditch at Wall — Stuart/Charlesworth
1969-73 Building IX (hospital) excavated — Charlesworth.
1974-81 Barrack XIII, Rampart Sectors 20-21 and E end of Building XV excavated, and Building XIV reinvestigated —
Daniels, Gillam and Crow
1984 N curtain outer face E of gate (beneath N farm gate entrance) — Crow
1986 Detailed stone-by-stone recording of the standing structures — Whitworth
1995 Survey of the masonry of the gateways — Hill
1998-9 Narrow slot for drain exc in S via principalis — NU Archaeological Practice
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the south gate and Turret 36b, both in plan (at 1:20)
and elevation (at 1:50), was undertaken by Alan
Whitworth between 1985-97 (see Whitworth 1990;
1994). An in-depth analysis of the dressed stonework
in the fort, principally focusing on the masonry of the
gates was undertaken by Peter Hill in 1995 (see
Chapter 8). Since 1981 the only intrusive investiga-
tions in the interior of the fort have been associated
with site maintenance and drainage, on the via princi-
palis for example (The Archaeological Practice 1999).

An initial assessment of the extent and preservation
of archaeological deposits within the guardianship area
at Housesteads was completed by James Crow in 1985.
This was revised in 1994 to take in the immediate envi-
rons of the fort and include a summary of post-Roman
history and land-use and a history of the site’s investi-
gation. This work, in turn, provided much of the data
for the recently produced Conservation Plan for
Housesteads (Peter McGowan Associates ez al 2002),
which includes an assessment of the significance of the
site as a whole and its individual components and con-
tains a detailed gazetteer covering all the archaeologi-
cal features of the site. As a result, Housesteads and its
immediate setting now form one of the most intensive-
ly described and analysed archaeological sites in
Britain and certainly on Hadrian’s Wall.

Full publication of the 1974-81 excavations in the
north-east quarter represents the outstanding lacuna in
the descriptive and analytical corpus relating to
Housesteads. The 1974-81 project was the last in the
series of major excavations conducted in the interior of
the fort after 1945, the remainder of which have all
appeared in print, and provides the detailed evidence
which underpins much of current thinking on the
structural history of the fort and the development
of the northern frontier in general, particularly in its

Table 1.2 Consolidation at Housesteads

later phases. Accordingly, the results of the north-east
quarter investigations constitute the core of this vol-
ume (Chapters 2-7).

A full list of interventions is shown on Table 1.1.

Consolidation

Virtually all the standing structures were extensively
consolidated by the Ministry of Works and later the
Department of the Environment from the late 1950s
onwards. Charles Anderson, works foreman at
Corbridge, kept a photographic record of the major
programme of consolidation he carried out between
the late 1950s and early 1970s (fort curtain, gates and
central range internal buildings, Knag Burn gate and
curtain to the west). Consolidation photographs of the
remaining structures — Buildings XIII, XIV and XV
and Rampart Areas 20 and 21 (north-east rampart
back and ntervallum) — are preserved in the English
Heritage Photographic Library. Dates of principal con-
solidation works are set out in Table 1.2.

Work in the north-east quarter

As is evident from the foregoing, the north-east corner
of the fort had been investigated on a number of occa-
sions prior to 1974 and it is worth considering these
earlier interventions in more detail since they have
important implications for the results of the 1974-81
excavation programme.

In 1831, John Hodgson uncovered the bath suite at
the eastern end of Building XV, following this up in
1833 by clearing the east gate and interval tower to the
north. His notebooks contain several sketchplans of
the baths and the gate, but particularly noteworthy is
the large plan of the east gate drawn up on a separate

date structure consolidated

1937 Limited National Trust consolidation (N granary)

1945/52 Turret 36B

1952 SW angle

post 1954 Principia (after Smith excavations)

1956 S gate, including guardhouses & curtain facing to E

1958 W curtain

Late 1950s/early 1960s E curtain, NE curtain & gate, granaries

1962 Barrack XIV and Building XV

1963 Latrines

1965 Repairs to Knag Burn curtain, E of gate?

¢ 1968-73 Praerorium and hospital (following and in conjunction with Charlesworth’s excavations)
1976 Knag Burn curtain, E of gate

1978-9 Building XIIT

1980-82 Rampart Sectors 20-21

1985 N curtain, external facing, formerly under N farm gate ramp
1986 Bastle and corn-drying kiln (at S gate)

1989-90 Re-consolidation of praerorium
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Fig 1.5 The interval tower north of the east gate ¢ 1898, showing the blocked doorway (Hadrian’s Wall Archive).

sheet (Fig 1.3). This is now held in the Birley Archive
at the University of Durham, together with the original
text and plans of a paper by Hodgson describing his
work at Housesteads, which was read to the Society of
Antiquaries of Newcastle upon Tyne in 1834 (cf Birley
1937, 177-8). Along with Hodgson’s paper, the plan
was evidently borrowed from the Society by Eric Birley
in 1936, when the latter was preparing his ‘Fifth report
on excavations at Housesteads’ (Birley 1937). The
work on the interval tower behind the east curtain
(Rampart Area 21) was described by Hodgson in his
journal for 17 July 1833 (Misc Papers Vol Z, pp 508-9).
It was covered by a ‘tough mossy sward’, which was
dug into to reveal side walls, built with irregular cours-
es and very little mortar, and a rudely flagged floor.
His rough sketch plan shows the doorway in the north-
west corner and the broad mass of wall on the curtain
side. On this side the curtain had bulged outward and
an upper course of large (20in.— ¢ 0.5m) stones ‘inju-
diciously laid upon thin courses of small stones’. No
trace of these large stones now remains, but it is clear
that the curtain survives at a lower level than the side
walls of the tower. The large stones noted by Hodgson
were perhaps similar to the distinctive long blocks used
to reconstruct the angles of the fort. Photographs of
the tower taken at the end of the 19th century (Figs 1.5
and 1.6) show the doorway blocked up using the same
kind of long stone blocks. Hodgson makes no mention
of this blocking and his sketch plan shows the doorway
open. It is possible, therefore, that rather than repre-
senting a modification to the tower carried out in late
antiquity, this blocking was inserted later in the 19th
century by Clayton’s workmen, using stone from the
collapsed curtain, with the aim of preventing cattle
from entering the tower and further damaging the

east wall. The blocking must have been removed sub-
sequently, when the tower was consolidated by the
National Trust and the Ministry of Works.

During the 1850s John Clayton partly cleared the
north and east rampart backs to reveal the curtain wall
inner face. As a result of Budge’s comments, noted
above, it was long assumed that the archaeological
deposits in the fort interior had been extensively dam-
aged by Clayton’s clearance work. Indeed that view
was still fairly prevalent in 1974 when Charles Daniels
and John Gillam began work on Building XIII. In fact
the admittedly sparse accounts of Clayton’s excava-
tions provide no firm indication that he undertook any
significant work on the internal buildings of the north-
east quarter. Nor was any trace of such work found by
the 1974-81 excavations. Some wall tracing may have
been carried out around Building XV, as the outline of
the building was apparent on the Ordnance Survey
second edition (1898), whereas it was not shown on
the earlier first edition in 1860, but little information
survives on this. Indeed, both Buildings XV and XIV
had already been identified as distinct building plat-
forms by the ever-observant Hodgson and sketched as
such in his notebook (Misc Papers Vol Z, pp 508-9). In
the defences, where Clayton’s work was concentrated,
deposits along most of the outer face of the curtain
were removed and much of the east rampart back was
cleared to reveal the inner face of the curtain and the
north wall of the bakehouse, but only short sections of
the north rampart layers were cut away adjacent to the
north-east angle tower and the north gate.

In 1898, R C Bosanquet traced the internal build-
ings of the north-east quarter. The position of his
trenches can be estimated to a large degree by noting
where walls are shown marked in black on his plan of
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Fig 1.6 Bosanguet’s trench along the via sagularis drain with cistern empried (Hadrian’s Wall Archive).

the fort (1904, plate xix facing p 300; Fig 1.4 here). In
many instances the narrow trenches dug by his work-
men to chase particular walls were located during the
excavation of Building XIII, but they scarcely intruded
into the earlier, barrack levels and did not for the most
part significantly impede understanding of the later
chalet phase. However, the main drain running along
the edge of the east via sagularis, from the alley
between XIV and XV as far as the north-east angle,
was followed by Bosanquet (see Fig 1.6), which had the
effect of severing the stratigraphy associated with suc-
cessive ntervallum road surfaces from that of the ram-
parts. In the course of following this drain he observed
‘the remains of a rough retaining wall, which had evi-
dently supported a bank of earth behind the rampart’;
he shows this wall running from the south side of the
water tank to a point less than half-way along the east
wall of Building XV, corresponding to the primary
rampart revetment (H21:3:74/5; 4:31; 4:27; 5:13).

F G Simpson’s work in 1909 was focused on the
defences, and in particular the north-east angle with
the aim of resolving the question of the fort’s relation
to Hadrian’s Wall, including the eccentric position of
the angle tower. Simpson estimated the theoretical
position, and cut a trench along the inner face of the
fort curtain to expose the bonded side walls of the pri-
mary angle tower (PSAN3 4, 1909-10, 96; Simpson
1976, figs 49-52). The southern end of the west side
wall was also located in another trench. The interior of
the secondary angle tower was cleared, uncovering a
sewer connected to the via sagularis drain. On the west
side of the tower the angle between the curtain and the

tower side wall was sounded. It is evident from
Simpson’s photographs that the south and east walls of
the secondary tower did not stand quite as high as they
do today. The junction between the fort curtain and
Hadrian’s Wall at the north-east angle was also investi-
gated and the sewer outlet through a cavity in the cur-
tain was recorded. A little further west, two small
trenches were cut through the northern ntervallum
road by Hepple, Richmond and Simpson in 1945 to
trace the course of Hadrian’s Wall below (Richmond
and Simpson 1946). The trenches were identified dur-
ing excavation of this area in 1978 (H20:3:2; H20:5:3).

Along with Clayton’s clearance work on the ram-
parts, the most sizeable programme of excavation in the
north-east quadrant, prior to the 1974-81 campaign,
was that conducted by John Wilkes on behalf of the
Durham University Excavation Committee in 1959-61.
This involved the area excavation of Buildings XIV and
XV immediately south and west of the areas later inves-
tigated in 1974-81. In the case of Building XIV, exca-
vated over two seasons in 1959-60, Wilkes proposed
four distinct structural phases — Hadrianic, Severan,
Diocletianic, Valentinianic — following the “Wall Period’
chronology then current. He identified a Severan
rebuild of the conventional barrack and, most signifi-
cantly, on the basis of coins sealed beneath flagged
floors ascribed a later 3rd—early 4th-century date to the
third phase, which was shown to consist of a range of
freestanding barrack contubernia, now often termed
chalets (Wilkes 1960; 1961) (Fig 1.7). Four building
phases were also identified in Building XV, although
these did not quite fit the four Wall Periods, with a
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Fig 1.7 Chalets 3 and 4 of Building XIV] in 1959, following excavation (photograph by Fohn Wilkes for Durham University

Excavation Committee).

Fig 1.8 Consolidation of the north curtain wall by the Ministry of Works.

secondary, late Antonine rebuild, but no later 4th-
century work (Leach and Wilkes 1962). The massive
storchouse phase was assigned a date ‘not much later
than the early third century’ (Leach and Wilkes 1962,
89). However, work in 1981 on Building XIV and espe-
cially the eastern part of Building XV, which was not
included in the 1961 excavation, resulted in significant
revisions to the phasing schemes proposed by Wilkes.
The extensive programme of consolidation under-
taken by the Ministry of Works during the late
1950s—early 1960s included most of the north-east
curtain. It is unclear how extensively the fabric of the
defences had been repaired prior to this, by Clayton

himself, the later Clayton estate and then the National
Trust. Comparison of the present consolidated fabric
with Simpson’s photographs of 1909 (Simpson 1976,
pls 49-50, 52) shows that several courses were added
to the south and east walls of the secondary north-east
angle tower and that some of the east rampart was
removed to expose the inner face of the curtain.
Similarly, the blocking in the doorway to the interval
tower on the east curtain was removed at some stage
after 1898. These alterations might belong in the peri-
od prior to the Ministry of Works programme. The
most radical intervention undertaken in the north-east
quarter as part of the consolidation work involved the
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restoration, in ¢ 1960, of a section of the north curtain
inner face, stretching for up to 11m from the east side
of the north gate. This entailed digging a deep trench
along the inner face of the north curtain (Anderson
Albums 1 238, 240-4; see Fig 1.8 here), with significant
obvious impact on the stratigraphy of that part of the
rampart. The cut and fills of this trench were recorded
during excavation in 1978-9 (H20:8:67; 8:69; 9:34).
However, this modern construction trench did not
extend further east, along the full length of the north
curtain. There is a significant discrepancy between the
restored and unrestored inner faces of the curtain, as
the restored part was set vertical ¢ 0.35m south of the
unrestored section. The work on the north curtain also
removed the stone dyke which ran WSE-ESE across
the north rampart area (H20). This features on earlier
photographs of the north curtain and early editions of
the 1:2500 Ordnance Survey map and was interrupted
by the farm track that traversed the north-east corner
of the fort in a north-westerly direction and obliquely
descended the steep scarp north of the fort. As a result,
no trace of this wall was found during excavation in
1978-9, but a pair of postholes for the stone gate posts
was seen (8:4-5), together with rough metalling and
cart ruts of the farm road (8:3). In addition, the bath
suite in Building XV was probably stripped out and the
hypocaust floors removed during this consolidation
programme, although this does not feature among
Anderson’s photographs, and Building XIV was con-
solidated following its excavation by Wilkes.

The most recent investigative intervention in the
north-east quarter involved the complete removal of
the ramp for the north farm road and the excavation of
the associated archaeological deposits immediately
outside the fort by James Crow in 1984 (Crow 1988).
This area was assigned the code H20:10 to continue
the series of area codes used in the north rampart exca-
vations in 1978-9 (H20:1-9). The deposits were much
deeper than expected and a complex structural
sequence was revealed against the north curtain, which
has facilitated understanding the corresponding north
rampart sequences, particularly the later phases.
Subsequently, the surviving masonry of the north-east
defences was recorded in plan and elevation by Alan
Whitworth in 1993-7.

The 1974-1981 excavations

Between 1974 and 1981 a detailed programme of
archaeological investigation was carried out in the
north-east corner of the fort, the last in a series of
important excavations conducted within the fort after
1945. The 1974-81 programme focused principally on
the barrack block, Building XIII, and the adjacent
rampart back and inrervallum roadway areas, stretching
from the north gate to the north-east angle tower and
thence to the east gate. Significant reinvestigation of
Buildings XIV and XV also took place. The structures
revealed were then consolidated for public display.

The excavations were directed by Charles Daniels
and John Gillam, with James Crow joining the team
from 1978 as assistant director. The project served as
the departmental training dig for second-year archae-
ology students of Newcastle University. Outside these
intensive three-week spells, excavation was continued
by much smaller numbers of volunteers, often working
in atrocious weather conditions, each full season gen-
erally running from June to September.

The excavations at Housesteads took place during a
seminal period for the study of Hadrian’s Wall. Since
the Durham University Excavation Committee excava-
tions at Birdoswald, in 1929, the dominant chronolog-
ical model for the northern frontier had been the
concept of ‘Wall Periods’. The structural history of
Hadrian’s Wall and its associated installations was
determined by reference to a series of what were
thought to be four — later increased to five — historical-
ly documented destruction and subsequent construc-
tion episodes, apparently confirmed by archaeological
and epigraphic evidence. This had first been fully elab-
orated in an important article by Eric Birley (1930),
which was based on the results of the 1929 Birdoswald
excavations (recently valuably reassessed by Wilmott
1997, 8-14). Although the first warning note had
already been sounded regarding the dangers of making
inferences relating to military and political events from
archaeological evidence and, likewise, of using hypo-
thetical interpretations of written evidence as a basis
for dating structures and artefacts (see Gillam 1974, 1),
the Wall Period model was still very much in vogue
when work on Building XIII began in 1974. By the
time the excavations finished in 1981, however, this
framework was undergoing profound re-examination
and indeed the whole idea of writing the kind of mili-
tary and political history, based on archaeological evi-
dence, previously attempted by Wall scholars such as
Ian Richmond and Eric Birley, was being called into
question.

This shift is reflected in the excavation records. The
context notes relating to the excavation of Building
XIII between 1974—7, which were contained in a series
of A4 notebooks, are distinguished by frequent com-
ments or queries regarding which of the four periods
the particular context should be assigned to. By con-
trast, the context records for the north rampart exca-
vations in 1978-9 — by now recorded on separate
sheets stored in ring binders — were much less dogmat-
ic in interpreting the date of any specific context and a
more complex phasing structure was ultimately adopt-
ed. Indeed, by the time post-excavation work was
underway on XIII, it was recognised that the building
had only two main structural phases — labelled
‘Barrack’ and ‘Chalet’ — each having multiple sub-
phases. The excavations of Building XIV and XV in
1981 were inevitably conditioned to a large extent by
the pre-existing chronologies established by Wilkes’s
excavations of those structures in 1959-61, but even
here important revisions to the phasing were made.
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Fig 1.9 Plan of the hospital (Building 1X) based on a survey by P Staniczenko (scale 1:150).

Methodology

Partly because of the limited personnel available, the
north-east corner was not opened and investigated as a
single unit. Instead excavation proceeded sequentially
from area to area beginning with the investigation of a
barrack block, Building XIII, in 1974-7, moving to the
adjacent north rampart in 1978-9 and thence to the
east rampart. The same is incidentally true of Wilkes’s
1959-61 programme, with examination of Building
XV, in 1961, following the previous two seasons work
on Building XIV. Limited work was also carried out in

Building XIV, at the east end of Building XV and on
the street between XIII and XIV during the 1974-81
programme. Again the interventions in Building XIV
and in the street between XIII and XIV were each
effected in two stages, in conjunction with consolida-
tion work. Moreover the full extent of the north ram-
part was not investigated until 1979 when the
westernmost area, running up to the north gate, was
opened up. This step by step approach, lasting as it did
over more than 20 years (if Wilkes’s excavations are
included) was largely determined by the circumstances
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of the time, but it did not provide as complete a strati-
graphic control as a single area excavation of the entire
north-east quarter would have afforded. Hence it has
important implications for the analysis of the project as
a whole.

The close association of the entire project with the
objectives of consolidation also exerted a considerable
influence on the course of the excavation, providing
both opportunities and limitations. Thus some rein-
vestigation of Building XIV was possible, following
the decision to lay chippings in place of the turf cov-
ering within XIV (which had already been consolidat-
ed following excavation by Wilkes in 1959-60). On
the other hand, the decision to display the later levels
of Building XIII, though it resulted in the most infor-
mative collection of later Roman barracks open to
public view anywhere in the country, also restricted
the extent to which the earlier barrack levels could be
investigated. The latter was carried out principally
through the recognition of walls carried through to the
chalet phase, and by means of limited sondages to
establish the presence of walls inferred but not initial-
ly visible. Thus where the upper levels survived badly,
as in the case of Chalet 5, the lower levels (equating to
parts of Contubernia 4 and 5) could be fully excavated
down to natural. Similarly, the street between XIII
and XIV was only cleared down to the uppermost sur-
face over most of its length, though more intensive
investigation was carried out at its eastern end in
1981. The most intensive investigation of the earlier
barrack levels occurred in the western half of Chalet 1
(corresponding to the western half of the centurion’s
quarters), where, exceptionally, the later chalet flag-
ging was removed. In the east rampart (H21) Clayton
had cut right into the primary deposits and Simpson
had cut trenches to locate the primary angle tower,
but the better preservation encountered in the north
rampart (H20) meant that the excavators there were
only rarely able to investigate beneath the 3rd-century
workshop levels (H20 Phase 3a) in that sector during
1978-9.

The detailed breakdown of the separate stages of
excavation is as follows:

1974-7 Complete exploration of Building XIII
(H13).

1977 An exploratory trench was opened in the
north rampart area.
Building XIII excavation extended across the
N end of the via principalis, revealing the E
end of Building VII (H13:11).

1977-8 Clearance down to the uppermost road

(winter) surface of the street between Buildings XIII
and XIV (HS).

1978-9 North rampart-back and roadway area — N
gate to NE angle tower (H20).

1978 Further small-scale investigation of earlier
barrack structures in H13:8-10 and founda-
tion of Hadrian’s Wall to the north of H13:8.

1979 Examination of the westernmost contubernium/

chalet of Building XIV (H14:9).

East rampart-back and roadway area — NE

angle tower to E gate (H21).

1981 Re-examination of the E end of Building XV
where a bath-house was inserted during the
4th century. This had first been investigated
by Hodgson and consequently was not
explored by Wilkes in 1961 (H15:1).

The E end of the road between XIII and XIV
excavated down to a suitable level for display
(HSE).

Re-examination of the remains of Building
X1V, first excavated by Wilkes in 1959-61,
revealed again when turf lifted to allow
replacement with chippings and display of
centurion’s quarters (H14:1, 3-6).

1980-1

The site/building codes featured above (H13 etc)
are those adopted in the site and research archive doc-
umentation and are followed hereafter as a convenient
means of distinguishing between the component sites
of the 1974-81 excavations (see Fig 1.11). They derive
ultimately from the numbering sequence (I-XVIII)
given to the internal buildings by R C Bosanquet in
1898 (cf Fig 1.4). The rampart/intervallum site num-
bering was formulated by C M Daniels to continue
that of Bosanquet, starting with the north gate to
north-east angle tower stretch as Rampart Sector 20
and continuing clockwise around the fort circuit, cul-
minating with north-west angle to north gate (Sector
27; cf Fig 1.10). The intervening number (19) was
assigned to the latrines at the south-east angle.

The different sites were each subdivided into sever-
al areas for the purposes of supervision and recording
(see Fig 1.11). In the two barrack blocks, XIII and XIV,
these areas each normally corresponded to an individ-
ual chalet (areas 0 and 11 at either end of H13 are
exceptions), with the numbering running from
east—west (H13:0-11 and H14:1-9). The bath-house
area, investigated at the east end of Building XV, was
treated as a single unit (H15:1).

In contrast the rampart sites were simply divided
into blocks. The north rampart sector, H20, which was
41m long (east—west) by 10m wide (southwards from
curtain wall), comprised nine areas, numbered 1-9
from the east. In the stretch opened in 1978, area 1 lay
immediately south-east of the angle tower, area 2 rep-
resented the narrow strip immediately south of the
angle tower, while areas 3—7 each covered a 5m stretch
along the curtain from the west face of the angle tower.
Areas 8 and 9, which were not investigated until the
following year, were both 8m wide. The east rampart
H21 was similarly split into five areas, numbered 1-5
from the north, each of which was 10m square (area
H20:1, confined between the east face of the angle
tower and the curve of the fort wall, was subsequently
redesignated H21:1 and investigated more extensively
in 1980-1).
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Fig 1.11 Outline plan of the north-east quarter of the fort showing the 197481 excavation sites and areas.

Each individual archaeological context within the
site:areas outlined above was assigned a further num-
ber. The unique context identifier was thus composed
of three numerical components in the following man-
ner: (site):(area):(context), for example H13:1:105.
Although this system is more cumbersome than a
unique single number system it does have the advantage
of enabling the general location of a given context to be
easily identified. However, it also resulted in those fea-
tures which straddled area or site boundaries being des-
ignated by two or more unique identifiers. This
drawback particularly applied to long linear features
such as rampart revetments and nzervallum drains.

Original research aims

The 1974-81 excavations were undertaken in the peri-
od before it became mandatory for archaeological
research to be accompanied by detailed project designs
setting out a set of specific questions the programme of
work was designed to address. Nevertheless, research
questions, which the excavations were evidently
intended to answer, are included in the interim reports
composed after each season, and in the introduction to
each volume of the Level 3 archive report. Although
the various site components were not initially
conceived as a single unitary project, with a pre-
determined plan to excavate all the areas eventually
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investigated, it is clear that two principal overall
research aims underlay all the work:

1. To recover the plan of the original Hadrianic layout
in this area of the fort.

2. To establish the subsequent changing pattern of
occupation.

Each component site generated its own variant of
these basic questions. For example the more detailed
aims regarding H13, the first site to be investigated,
may be expressed thus:

* To establish the plan of the original barracks.
* To determine the changing pattern of occupation in
the barracks/chalets.

Similarly for Building XV:

* To obtain further evidence regarding the primary
form and function of Building XV.

+ To obtain new evidence about the dating of the
baths complex at the east end of Building XV (H15
Level 3, 2).

When commencing work on the ramparts in 1978
interest focused on the possibility that rampart back
buildings would be uncovered, similar to those found
behind all other stretches of the curtain by Clayton and
later by Simpson’s excavations.

3. To uncover comparative evidence which would allow
a further understanding of the chronology and func-
tion of rampart back buildings (H20 Level 3, 2).

Two general points should be noted regarding the
process whereby research aims were defined for the
1974-81 excavations. Firstly, the step by step method
of exploring the north-east quarter one area at a time
did have the advantage of enabling aims to be revised
in the light of experience gained from preceding sea-
sons of investigation. The excavation of the eastern end
of the street between Buildings XIII and XIV (HSE)
enabled road surfaces in the street and the east inzer-
vallum to be equated, providing further stratigraphic
links between the via sagularis and Building XIV — sites
H21, HSE and H14.

Secondly, the formulation of research questions and
the means adopted to answer them was to an extent
opportunistic, since the areas available for excavation,
and the depth to which digging could be taken was in
large measure determined by the requirements for con-
solidating and displaying the north-east corner, as noted
above. For example, in order to harmonise the display of
Building XTIV with that of XIII the decision was taken to
lay chippings in place of the turf covering within XIV
(which had already been consolidated following excava-
tion by J ] Wilkes in 1959-60). This enabled the limited
reinvestigation of areas of Building XIV in 1981.

These two factors contributed to formulation of a
fourth research aim:

4. To build up a unified picture of the history of the
NE part of fort.

This also entailed the excavation of the east end of
Building XV.

The analysis phase

A preliminary interpretation of the Chalet Phase of
Buildings XIII and XIV was presented in 1979
(Daniels 1980), in the context of a comparative study
of chalets. Post-excavation analysis proper followed on
immediately after completion of the final season of
excavation and was conducted in three distinct cam-
paigns. Peter Moffat and Ian Caruana produced a pre-
liminary draft of the Level 3 stratigraphic report for
H13 by March 1982 and the corresponding report for
H20 had been finished by James Crow and Peter
Moffat by August 1983. In addition much preparatory
analysis was completed on the pottery and many other
specialist reports were commissioned, with a number
accomplished (stamped samian, glass, graffiti, botani-
cal evidence) during this phase of analysis.

The project resumed in June 1987 when Mike
Bishop commenced work under contract to English
Heritage, with a view to producing a complete Level 3
archive and a final published report. The contract ran
up to the end of May 1989, with some ‘goodwill’ work
continuing into 1990. During this period the earlier
Level 3 stratigraphic reports were revised and those for
the remaining sites completed with the assistance of
James Crow. A single, draft structural report was com-
piled from all the Level 3 reports. Most of the remain-
ing specialist reports on the separate material
categories were commissioned and completed. A pub-
lication synopsis was devised and the plans drawn up
for final publication.

The final stage of the post-excavation work com-
menced in 1995, with funding from English Heritage,
following the preparation of an assessment and revised
project design (Rushworth 1995) according to the prin-
ciples of MAP2 (English Heritage 1991a). The work
was co-ordinated by Alan Rushworth, under the overall
supervision of Charles Daniels up until Charles’
untimely death in 1996. The structural report was
revised with the aim of tying together the different sites
as far as possible. Although direct stratigraphic links
were generally absent, because of the sequential site-by-
site excavation method and the intrusive impact of ear-
lier archaeological investigations, relationships between
various structures in the different sites were often
apparent, in the form of wall alignments or other struc-
tures that clearly respected or paralleled one another. A
significant measure of success was achieved by this
method, particularly with respect to the later phases.
Thus the expansion of the north rampart in its latest
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phase can be seen to have had a corresponding impact
on the chalets of Building XIII, particularly those in the
centre of the range, resulting in a shortening of the
chalets with the formerly open fronts being closed off
by stone walls. The oblique alignment of the latest
rampart revetment is even paralleled by the secondary
front wall of Chalet 4 and the porch of Chalet 5.
Moreover, substantial progress was made in analysing
the structures belonging to the very latest occupation
phases on the site and in resolving certain especially
problematic areas of interpretation. The remaining spe-
cialist reports were completed, including that relating to
the samian ware. Additional quantities of coarseware
and small finds that had initially escaped analysis were
identified and included. One additional piece of work
was commissioned in association with this phase,
namely a study by Peter Hill of the dressed stonework
in and around the fort, principally focusing on the
masonry of the gates. This yielded significant informa-
tion regarding the initial construction of the gateways in
particular and, by extension, the fort in general.

As a result of the involvement of so many
researchers, Chapters 2—7, which contain the detailed
structural history of the fort’s north-east quarter, have
a broad parentage, incorporating text compiled over
the years by Peter Moffat, Ian Caruana, James Crow
and Mike Bishop, with input from Charles Daniels,
while final editing, revisions and additions were
accomplished by Alan Rushworth. Moreover, sections
of text in other chapters, dealing with the history of
investigation, for example, have been adapted from
earlier unpublished reports analysing the archaeology
of Housesteads and its environs, produced by James
Crow and Alan Rushworth since 1994 and from the
recently completed Housesteads Conservation Plan
(Peter McGowan Associates et al 2002).

Sadly, Charles Daniels died suddenly in 1996,
before the project was completed. His breadth of
knowledge regarding Roman frontiers in general and
Hadrian’s Wall in particular and his inspirational
enthusiasm for the subject are greatly missed.

The fort: associated survey

Several pieces of survey work were carried out during
the course of the 1974-81 excavations. Two overall
surveys of the fort were undertaken, correcting signifi-
cant errors in the 1898 Dickie and Bosanquet site plan
(Bosanquet 1904, plate xix facing p 300). A ground
survey at 1:250 undertaken by P Staniczenko of
Newcastle University Surveying Department in 1974
forms the basis of Fig 1.9 here. A subsequent aerial
photogrammetric survey by Plowman-Craven
Associates was later adapted and corrected by the
RCHME during their study of the fort environs
(Chapter 10). The resultant composite plan may be
considered the most accurate record available of the
entire fort as it stands today, forming the basis for fur-
ther analysis and revision.

Survey and excavation in the
fort environs

In addition several significant pieces of fieldwork and
research were conducted in the environs of the fort,
either contemporary with, but separate from, the
1974-81 excavation project or in the years immediately
afterward.

1975 Ancient Monuments Laboratory geophysical
survey and auguring W and S of the fort.

1976 Watching brief in water pipe trench 20m SW of
valley bottom well and N of Chapel Hill (J A and
J G Crow).

1986 RCHME survey of Housesteads vicus and envi-
rons.

1987 Trenches excavated on the terrace between farm
and museum (J G Crow).

1988 West half of the Knag Burn gate examined (J G
Crow).

Together these projects addressed aspects such as
the vicus and its associated agricultural features, the
multi-period landscape palimpsest surrounding the fort,
post-Roman settlement within and outside the fort, as
well as the survival of archaeological deposits over the
entire site. Their combined impact is thus to broaden
our understanding of the site by studying it both in its
wider landscape context and in its full chronological set-
ting. The results of the geophysical survey were disap-
pointing owing to the high remanent magnetism of the
igneous Whin Sill and it proved impossible to publish
the survey, but the Royal Commission survey and the
three excavations are included here in Chapter 10, to
stand alongside the work inside the fort.

Summary of phasing

Phasing concordance

The site phasing concordance is set out in Table 1.3.
In the following chapters each of the constituent site
phases is designated by site then phase number, taking
the form H20 Phase 1 or, more succinctly, Phase
H20/1, for example. Site H13 (Building XIII), howev-
er, is largely divided into two main periods — Barrack
and Chalet — which in turn are further subdivided into
numbered barrack period and chalet period phases.
The phasing of each site floats, to a greater or lesser
extent, with respect to the others. Thus Phase 2 on one
site is not necessarily contemporary with the second
phase on another. Moreover, phases occupying equiv-
alent positions within the table are not tied together by
firm stratigraphic relationships, although the chart
does provide a rough guide to inferred relationships, as
well as a relative chronology within each site.

Various pre-fort features were identified beneath
Building XIII (PR) along with the construction of
Broad Wall foundation along the crest of the ridge
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Table 1.3 Housestead 1974-1981 excavations. Phase concordance chart

Overall Hi3: o1 H13:2-11 Hi4 Hi5 H20 H2I HSE
Modem M M M M M M M
Post Roman? CH3+
v CH3 CH3 de 4b+ [
4th to early 5th 4 5 Ad da-b 5
cenfury CH2 CH2 dc 4
4b 3
111 Chalets CHI CHI 3 4 da Ja-f 2
{e AD 300)
BAS+ - 3d 2g
] BAS ic 2 1
2nd to 3rd-century Bad 3 3b
modifications BA 2 3a 2a-¢
BA3 -1 2 1d
BAZ 2b
1 Primary BALi-iv CON 1 1 2a la-c -
Construction
Pre-fort HW I
{inclu. H Wall) PR PR - - -

™ ™, ¥

Fig 1.12 Outline plan of the north-east quarter of the fort in Phase I.
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Fig 1.13 Outline plan of Phase II (showing the later partial reinstatement of the north rampart).

(HW), which was recovered more fully in site H20 (see
Chapter 2). Following that, four overall phases of
activity relating to the history of the north-east part of
the fort can be e